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Answer to Credit Card Collection Suit and Class Counterclaim

IN THE CIRCUIT COURT, FOURTHJUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR DUVAL COUNTY, FLORIDA

CASE NO.: NO.

DIVISION: CV-B 
CAPITAL ONE BANK,

Plaintiff

vs.
CLASS REPRESENTATION
DEFENDANT,

Defendant.

_____________________________/

DEFENDANT’S ANSWER & AMENDED AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSES

IN RESPONSE TO PLAINTIFF’S AMENDED COMPLAINT FOR DAMAGES

AND AMENDED CLASS ACTION COUNTERCLAIMS

Defendant DEFENDANT (“DEFENDANT”) responds to the specifically numbered paragraphs of Plaintiff Capital One Bank’s Amended Complaint for Damages as follows:

GENERAL ALLEGATIONS
1.
Denied.

2.
Admitted.



3.
Denied.

4.
Denied.

5.
Denied.

6.
Denied.

COUNT I (Contract – Credit Card)
Defendant DEFENDANT re-asserts her answers to paragraphs 1 through 6 above and incorporate the same here by reference.

7.
Denied.

8.
Denied.

9.
Denied.

10.
Denied.

11.
Denied.

12.
Denied.

13.
Denied.

14.
Denied.

COUNT II (Account Stated)
Defendant DEFENDANT re-asserts her answers to paragraphs 1 through 6 above and incorporate the same here by reference.

15.
Denied.

16.
Denied.

17.
Denied.

18.
Denied.

COUNT III (Money Lent)
Defendant DEFENDANT re-asserts her answers to paragraphs 1 through 6 above and incorporate the same here by reference.

19.
Denied.

DEFENDANT’S AMENDED AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSES

FIRST AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE

Failure to State a Cause of Action For Breach of Contract Under Rule 1.130
Plaintiff seeks damages for breach of contract, but has failed to attach a legible and enforceable copy of the contract upon which it bases its claims in violation of Rule 7.050, Florida Small Claims Rules of Civil Procedure.  See also Fla. R. Civ. P. Form 1.933.  Accordingly, Plaintiff fails to state a cause of action under Count I.

SECOND AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE

Failure to State a Cause of Action For Account Stated Under Rule 1.130
  
Plaintiff seeks damages for account stated, but has failed to attach a copy of the account showing the items, time of accrual of each, and amount of each, in violation of Rule 7.050, Florida Small Claims Rules of Civil Procedure.  See also Fla. R. Civ. P. Form 1.933.  Accordingly, Plaintiff fails to state a cause of action under Count II.

THIRD AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE

Abuse of Process
Plaintiff’s claims fail due to Plaintiff’s abuse of process while pursuing this litigation.  Based upon Plaintiff’s illegal use of the service of process in this case as an improper arm of collection, it is not entitled to the relief sought herein.

FOURTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE

Violations of the Florida Consumer Collection Practices Act
Plaintiff’s claims fail as a result of Plaintiff’s violations of the Florida Consumer Collection Practices Act.  However, if found liable under any of Plaintiff’s claims, Defendant DEFENDANT is entitled to a set-off for damages incurred as a result of Plaintiff’s violations of the Florida Consumer Collection Practices Act.
AMENDED CLASS ACTION COUNTERCLAIMS
Pursuant to Rule 1.220, Florida Rules of Civil Procedure, Counterclaim Plaintiff, DEFENDANT, on behalf of herself and others similarly situated, by and through her undersigned attorneys, sues Counterclaim Defendants Capital One Bank, a foreign corporation, Robert J. Orovitz, P.A., doing business as Hayt, Hayt & Landau, and Robert J. Orovitz, Esq., and on information and belief, based upon the investigation of counsel, except as to allegations related to Counterclaim Plaintiff and her counsel which are alleged upon personal knowledge, allege as follows: 

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT
1.
These counterclaims are brought as a class action against Counterclaim Defendants seeking damages and declaratory and injunctive relief arising out of Counterclaim Defendant, Capital One’s abuse of process and violations of Florida Consumer Collection Practices Act, Chapter 559, Part VI, Florida Statutes (2006) and Counterclaim Defendants, Robert J. Orovitz, P.A., doing business as Hayt, Hayt & Landau, and Robert J. Orovitz, Esq.’s abuse of process and violations of the Federal Fair Debt Collection Practices Act, 15 U.S.C. §§1692, et seq. (2006).   

2.
As more fully alleged herein, Counterclaim Defendants engaged in illegal, misleading and unconscionable practices in connection with the collection of consumer debt in Florida. 


JURISDICTION AND VENUE
3.
Pursuant to § 26.012, Florida Statutes, the Circuit Court has jurisdiction over this action, brought on behalf of Counterclaim Plaintiff and all similarly situated consumers of the State of Florida, whose collective damages exceed $15,000, but are not believed to exceed $5.0 million, exclusive of costs and attorney’s fees.

4.
Venue is proper in Duval County, Florida as the causes of action alleged herein arose in Duval County.

5.
Counterclaim Plaintiff seeks: (i) declaratory and injunctive relief (temporary and permanent) on behalf of herself and others similarly situated; (ii) rescission; (iii) actual, statutory, special and punitive damages in excess of $15,000.00; and (iv) attorney’s fees and costs.

PARTIES
6.
Counterclaim Plaintiff, DEFENDANT (hereinafter “DEFENDANT”) is sui juris and a resident of Jacksonville, Duval County, Florida.

7.
Counterclaim Defendant Capital One Bank (“Capital One”) is a Virginia state‑chartered bank with its principal place of business in Glen Allen, Virginia.  Capital One offers credit card products and deposit products.  Capital One is a subsidiary of Capital One Financial Corporation which markets a variety of financial products and services through its banking and non‑banking subsidiaries.  Capital One Financial Corporation has over 14,000 employees, a market capitalization of about $23 billion, and assets in excess of $95 billion. 

8.
Counterclaim Defendant Robert J. Orovitz, P.A., doing business as Hayt, Hayt & Landau (“Orovitz, P.A.”), is a Florida corporation and law firm operating a consumer debt collection agency in Florida.  Orovitz, P.A.’s website states:

Hayt, Hayt & Landau has been practicing law in the State of Florida for over thirty years specializing in the area of collections. We are forwarded accounts from agencies all over the country since we are one of the only law firms in Florida capable of handling a volume collection business for debtors located through out the State.

* * *

Our staff of lawyers, pre-legal collectors and post judgment department has a long history of taking the extra step needed to turn difficult collection cases into positive cash flow for the client. Of course, no collection agency can pursue the legal collection practices that are our stock in trade including post judgment garnishment of bank accounts and wages. These extreme measures are taken only after less intense methods have been exhausted but sometimes extreme measures are the only way to effect collection.

* * *

Florida is one of the most difficult states in the country to collect in. Despite the debtor friendly laws in this State, we have been able to effect collections on par with other States where garnishments are easier. We do this through legal means which allow us to garnish the wages of someone who is even the head of a household.

9.
Counterclaim Defendant, Robert J. Orovitz, Esq. (“Orovitz”), is an attorney, Florida Bar No. 501379, who resides in Miami, Miami-Dade County, Florida, and who is the principal of Orovitz, P.A..

GENERAL ALLEGATIONS
CAPITAL ONE, OROVITZ, P.A. 

AND OROVITZ’S DEBT COLLECTION PRACTICES

10.
On April 27, 2006, Capital One, Orovitz, P.A. and Orovitz utilized a process server to personally serve on DEFENDANT the following four documents:

a.
a Summons;

b.
a Complaint;

c.
a Letter from Orovitz (“Orovitz Letter”); and

d.
a document entitled “Stipulation for Entry of Final Judgment Execution Withheld” (“Stipulation”).

See attached composite Exhibit “A.”
11.
On September 1, 2006, Capital One, Orovitz, P.A. and Orovitz utilized a process server to personally serve on Jean C. Miller the same four documents described in ¶ 10 infra.

12.
On May 19, 2006, Orovitz, P.A. utilized a process server to personally serve on Lynn S. Krig the same four documents described in ¶ 10 infra for the collection of a debt for a different, non-party creditor.

13.
On October 17, 2006, Orovitz, P.A. utilized a process server to personally serve on Lucille Canaday the same four documents described in ¶ 10 infra for the collection of a debt for a different, non-party creditor.

14.
On information and belief, Capital One, Orovitz, P.A. and Orovitz have filed numerous complaints for the collection of consumer debt in Duval County and in other courts throughout the State of Florida (“Debt Litigations”) and served upon the defendants named therein documents identical to or substantially similar to the Orovitz Letter and Stipulation with initial service of process.

15.
The inclusion of the Orovitz Letter and Stipulation in the material served with process and by a process server constitutes an improper filing, simulates legal process and gives the documents an air of governmental authority and importance even though they are not true legal pleadings.

16.
Both the Orovitz Letter and the Stipulation served on DEFENDANT are not proper pleadings and are not authorized by Florida Law to be served with initial process.  See Aug. 10, 2006 Order, Capital One v. DEFENDANT, 16-2006-SC002689, Div. D, in the County Court, Fourth Judicial Circuit, in and for Duval County, Florida (attached as Exhibit B); Sept. 13, 2006 Order, North Star Capital Acquisitions, L.L.C. v. Krig, 16-2006-SC008715, Div. C, in the County Court, Fourth Judicial Circuit, in and for Duval County, Florida (attached as Exhibit C); Oct. 24, 2006 Order (attached as Exhibit D), Capital One Bank v. Miller, 16-2006-SC006835, Div. P, in the County Court, Fourth Judicial Circuit, in and for Duval County, Florida Palisades Acquisition, L.L.C. v. Davis, 13 Fla. L. Weekly Supp. 150 (Nov. 14, 2005) (attached as Exhibit E).

17.
The Orovitz Letter included in the process served on DEFENDANT provides, in part, as follows: 

You have now been served with a Complaint by Capital One Bank to collect the outstanding balance due and owing on your account. I am enclosing for your review and signature a Stipulation for Entry of Final Judgment Execution Withheld. As you will note, the amount of the monthly payments has intentionally been left blank.  Kindly contact my office upon receipt of this letter so that we may mutually agree to the terms and conditions of said stipulation.  If we agree on an amount, you will not have to go to court. (This is your last opportunity to resolve this matter without going to court.) 
Please understand that any information we obtain will be used for the purpose of collecting this debt. 

If you have any questions or wish to discuss this matter in further detail please feel free to contact me. 

See Exh. A.

18.
Rule 4-4.3, Rules Regulating the Florida Bar, states:

(a) In dealing on behalf of a client with a person who is not represented by counsel, a lawyer shall not state or imply that the lawyer is disinterested. When the lawyer knows or reasonably should know that the unrepresented person misunderstands the lawyer's role in the matter, the lawyer shall make reasonable efforts to correct the misunderstanding. The lawyer shall not give legal advice to an unrepresented person, other than the advice to secure counsel.
19.
The Orovitz Letter is deceptive and misleading.  In stating that the alleged debtor “will not have to go to court” and that the execution of the Stipulation represents the debtor’s “last opportunity to resolve this matter without going to court,” Counterclaim Defendants are inferring in the Orovitz Letter that the signing of a Stipulation for Entry of Final Judgment Execution Withheld is legally a preferred method of dealing with the dispute.  Further, the Orovitz Letter is written such that an unrepresented debtor may think that the attorney has the debtor’s best interest in mind, yet nowhere in this letter does Orovitz advise the unrepresented debtor to secure counsel.  Further, the Orovitz Letter misleads the recipient regarding future Court action, as the Stipulation is not a settlement of the alleged debt outside of the Court-system, but rather requires judicial conduct with or without the physical presence of the debtor.

20.
The Stipulation served on DEFENDANT, contains a statement about the principal sum of the alleged debt, defines a post-judgment rate of interest – here 20.400% per annum, and leaves blank the amounts corresponding to court costs and attorney’s fees.  Further, the Stipulation states in paragraph 6 as follows:

In the event of Defendant(s) default under the terms of the Stipulation and Plaintiff obtains an execution order, the Defendant(s) hereby agree(s) to waive any garnishment defenses that are waivable under Florida Statute 222.11.

See Exh. A.

21.
The Stipulation is misleading and deceptive.  First, nowhere does the Stipulation inform the alleged debtor as to the basis for the unilaterally-chosen post-judgment rate of interest, which exceeds the statutory rate of post-judgment interest by more than double.  More importantly, served with initial process in combination with the Orovitz Letter, the Stipulation implies that a waiver of valid and powerful legal defenses is advisable.  By connecting the idea that the debtor “will not have to go to court” with a waiver of garnishment defenses, Counterclaim Defendants have severally mislead unrepresented consumers as to their legal rights and protections afforded under Florida law.
CLASS REPRESENTATION ALLEGATIONS

22.
Pursuant to Rule 1.220, Fla. R. Civ. P.,  Counterclaim Plaintiff DEFENDANT brings this claim on behalf of a class  (“Class”) defined as :

All persons who between April 27, 2002 and present were sued by Capital One and served with process in the State of Florida which included documents similar to the Orovitz Letter and Stipulation.

23.
The Class is so numerous that joinder of all members is impracticable.  On information and belief, Capital One, Orovitz, P.A. and Orovitz have sued hundreds, if not thousands, of Florida consumers for the purported non-payment of consumer debts. 

24.
There are questions of law and fact common to the Class, which predominate over any questions affecting only individual members.   The principal questions of law or fact include:

a.
Whether Capital One, Orovitz, P.A. and Orovitz’s inclusion of the Orovitz Letter and Stipulation with initial process constitutes an abuse of process;

b.
Whether Capital One’s inclusion of the Orovitz Letter and Stipulation with initial process violates the Florida Consumer Collection Practices Act; Fla. Stat. §§ 559.55, et seq.;

c.
Whether  Orovitz, P.A. and Orovitz’s inclusion of the Orovitz

Letter and Stipulation with initial process violates the Federal Fair Debt Collection Practices Act, 15 U.S.C. §§1692, et. seq.; 

d.
Capital One, Orovitz, P.A. and Orovitz’s liability to the Plaintiff and the Class; and

e. 
Whether injunctive or declaratory relief is appropriate to prevent Capital One, Orovitz, P.A. and Orovitz from including documents other than a complaint and summons when serving process.

25.
DEFENDANT’s claims are typical of the other members of the Class.  

26.
DEFENDANT and the Class are entitled to relief by virtue of the fact that Capital One, Orovitz, P.A. and Orovitz’s standard and usual business practices include the use of form contracts and form letters which violate Florida Consumer Collection Practices Act  and the Federal Fair Debt Collection Practices Act, and which constitute an abuse of process.

27.
DEFENDANT will fairly and adequately protect the interests of the Class.  DEFENDANT has retained counsel experienced in handling class actions and actions involving unlawful business practices.  Neither DEFENDANT nor her counsel have any interests which might cause them not to vigorously pursue this action.

28.
Certification of a class under Rule 1.220(b)(2) (for injunctive and declaratory relief) and Rule 1.220(b)(3) (for damages), Florida Rules of Civil Procedure, is appropriate in that a class action is superior to other available methods for the fair and efficient adjudication of this controversy.  The interests of the class members in individually controlling the prosecution and defense of separate actions is minimal, in that the class members are unlikely to be aware that their rights were violated and because individual actions are uneconomical.  Difficulties likely to be encountered in managing this class action are substantially less than are involved in other types of cases routinely certified as class actions.

COUNT ONE
ABUSE OF LEGAL PROCESS
29.
Counterclaim Plaintiff re-alleges paragraphs 1 - 28 as if fully set forth herein.

30.
This is an action for abuse of legal process against Counterclaim Defendants Capital One, Orovitz, P.A. and Orovitz, which exceeds $15,000 in damages.

31.
Upon serving with initial service of process the Orovitz Letter and the Stipulation, Capital One, Orovitz, P.A. and Orovitz abusively used process for an immediate purpose other than that for which it was designed – i.e. Counterclaim Defendants used it to collect an alleged debt without further litigation.  By including the Orovitz Letter and Stipulation with Court-issued documents and by serving these documents via an officer authorized by law to serve initial process, Counterclaim Defendants misused legal process and the Court system to promote their best interests by: (a) misleading DEFENDANT as to her legal rights; (b) misrepresenting Orovitz’s role in the litigation; and (c) attempting to circumvent a trial on the merits and to avoid proving their case to the detriment of DEFENDANT and others similarly situated.

32.
Capital One, Orovitz, P.A. and Orovitz misled consumers and attempted to entice their desired result by advising consumers that signing the Stipulation was their “last opportunity  to resolve this matter without going to court.”

33.
Capital One, Orovitz, P.A. and Orovitz’s serving of documents which are not proper pleadings, and which should never have been served with the initial process, was a willful and intentional misuse of process for the wrongful and unlawful purpose of collecting a debt by misleading and misrepresented means.
34.
Accordingly, Capital One, Orovitz, P.A. and Orovitz used civil legal process against the Class primarily to accomplish a purpose for which it was not designed.

WHEREFORE, Counterclaim Plaintiff DEFENDANT, on behalf of herself and others similarly situated, demands actual and special damages against Counterclaim Defendants Capital One Bank, Robert J. Orovitz, P.A., doing business as Hayt, Hayt & Landau, and Robert J. Orovitz, Esq. jointly and severally for abuse of legal process.


COUNT TWO

FLORIDA CONSUMER COLLECTION PRACTICES ACT


35.
Counterclaim Plaintiff re-alleges paragraphs 1 - 28 as if fully set forth herein.

36.
Pursuant to Fla. Stat. § 559.77, this is an action against Counterclaim Defendant Capital One for its violations of the Florida Consumer Collection Practices Act (“FCCPA”).

37.
The FCCPA was enacted to protect Florida consumers from creditors and debt collectors who seek to collect debts through illegal means



38.
DEFENDANT and others similarly situated are “debtors” and “consumers” within the meaning of the FCCPA.  See Fla. Stat. § 559.55(2).

39.
Capital One is a “creditor” within the meaning of the FCCPA.  See Fla. Stat. §§ 559.55(3).

40.
Capital One has brought Debt Litigations against DEFENDANT and others similarly situated alleging that they owe “consumer debts” to Capital One as this phrase is defined by Fla. Stat. §559.55(1).

41.
Capital One knew or reasonably should have known that it should not include the Orovitz Letter and Stipulation attached hereto in composite Exhibit “A” with the initial complaint and summons, as it simulated legal process and gave the documents an air of authority and importance even though they were not true legal pleadings. 

42.
Pursuant to Fla. Stat. §559.72(10), Capital One engaged in a prohibited collection practice under the FCCPA, when it  “used a communication which simulates in any manner legal or judicial process.”

43.
Capital One knew or reasonably should have known that it could not collect post-judgment interest in an amount greater than the statutory post-judgment interest rate allowed under Florida law.

44.
Pursuant to Fla. Stat. §559.72(9), Capital One engaged in a prohibited practice under the FCCPA, when it claimed, attempted, and threatened to enforce debts by asserting the existence of a legal right to excessive post-judgment interest when it knew that the right did not exist.

45.
As a result of these FCCPA violations, Plaintiff and others similarly situated have been subjected to unwarranted and illegal collection activities, and therefore have been harmed.
46.
It has been necessary for DEFENDANT to retain counsel in order to prosecute civil litigation based upon the FCCPA, and she has agreed to a reasonable fee for counsel’s services.  Pursuant to Fla. Stat. § 559.77, DEFENDANT is entitled to reimbursement from Capital One for attorney’s fees and costs incurred in the prosecution of this class action.
WHEREFORE, Counterclaim Plaintiff DEFENDANT, on behalf of herself and others similarly situated, demands:

A.
Temporary and permanent injunctive relief, in which the Court shall order Counterclaim Defendant Capital One Bank:

i.
To cease and desist collection practices which violate the FCCPA; and

ii.
To restore DEFENDANT and others similarly situated to their status quo prior to the filing of the subject Debt Litigations.

B.
Actual, statutory and punitive damages pursuant to Fla. Stat. § 559.77 against Counterclaim Defendant Capital One Bank for violations of the Florida Consumer Collection Practices Act;

C.
Attorney’s fees and costs pursuant to Fla. Stat. § 559.77(2); and

D.
Other and further relief as may be deemed just and proper.


COUNT THREE

FEDERAL FAIR DEBT COLLECTION PRACTICES ACT

47.
Counterclaim Plaintiff re-alleges paragraphs 1 - 28 as if fully set forth herein.

48.
DEFENDANT brings this action against Orovitz, P.A. and Orovitz seeking statutory damages for their violations of the Federal Fair Debt Collections Practices Act, 15 U.S.C. §1692,  et seq. (“FDCPA”).

49.
The FDCPA was enacted to protect all consumers from debt collectors who seek to collect debts through illegal means and who engage in unfair and/or deceptive practices during the collection of a debt. 

50.       DEFENDANT and others similarly situated are “consumers” within the meaning of FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. §1692a(3).

51.       Orovitz, P.A. and Orovitz have engaged in collection of “debts” as this phrase is defined by 15 U.S.C. §1692a(5) allegedly owed by DEFENDANT and others similar situated. 

52.       Orovitz, P.A. and Orovitz are “debt collectors” within the meaning of FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. §1692a(6).

53.       Orovitz, P.A. and Orovitz  knew or reasonably should have known that they should not include the Orovitz Letter and Stipulation attached hereto in composite Exhibit “A” with the initial complaint and summons.  These documents simulated and were falsely represented to be documents authorized, issued and/or approved by the court and including these documents has created a false impression as to their authorization and approval in violation of 15 U.S.C. §1692e(9) and (13).   These documents are not true legal pleadings and including them in the initial legal process gave the documents a false air of authority and importance.  

54.
As a result of these FDCPA violations, Plaintiff and others similarly situated have been subjected to unwarranted and illegal collection activities, and therefore have been harmed.

55.       It has been necessary for DEFENDANT to retain counsel in order to prosecute civil litigation based upon the FDCPA, and she has agreed to a reasonable fee for counsel’s services.  Pursuant to 15 U.S.C. §1692k(3), DEFENDANT is entitled to reimbursement from Orovitz, P.A. and Orovitz for attorney’s fees and costs incurred in the prosecution of this class action.

WHEREFORE, Counterclaim Plaintiff DEFENDANT, on behalf of herself and others similarly situated, demands:

A.
Temporary and permanent injunctive relief, in which the Court shall order Counterclaim Defendants Orovitz, P.A. and Orovitz:

i.
To cease and desist collection practices which violate the FDCPA; and

ii.
To restore DEFENDANT and others similarly situated to their status quo prior to the filing of the subject Debt Litigations.

B.
Actual and statutory damages pursuant to 15 U.S.C. §1692k(1) and (2)(B) against Counterclaim Defendants Orovitz, P.A. and Orovitz for violations of the Federal Fair Debt Collection Practices Act;

C.
Other and further relief as may be deemed just and proper.
JURY TRIAL DEMAND
Counterclaim Plaintiff hereby demands a trial by jury on all issues so triable. 

Dated:
March ___, 2007

Jacksonville, Florida


JACKSONVILLE AREA LEGAL AID, INC.
____________________________________

LYNN DRYSDALE, ESQUIRE

Florida Bar No.: 508489

126 West Adams Street

Jacksonville, Florida 32202

(904) 356-8371, Ext 306

(904) 224-7050 (facsimile)

and

COOPER RIDGE & LANTINBERG, P.A.
____________________________________

GEORGE E. RIDGE, ESQUIRE

Florida Bar No.: 226701

Tiffiny Douglas Safi, Esquire

Florida Bar No.: 682101

200 West Forsyth Street

Jacksonville, Florida 32202

(904) 353-6555

(904) 353-7550 (facsimile)

Attorneys for Plaintiff, DEFENDANT and others similarly situated. 
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE
I HEREBY CERTIFY that a true and correct copy of the foregoing has been sent via U.S. Mail this ____ day of March, 2007 to Robert J. Orovitz, Esq., Law Offices of Hayt, Hayt & Landau, Galloway Professional Park, 7765 S.W. 87th Avenue, Suite 101, Miami, FL 33173; Barry A. Postman, Esq., Cole Scott & Kissane, P.A., 1645 Palm Beach Lakes Blvd., 2d Floor, West Palm Beach, Florida 33401; and Bryan O. Balogh, Esq., Starnes & Atchison LLP, P.O. Box 598512, Birmingham, Alabama 35259-8512.

______________________________


Attorney
